2012

Peak Alarm Company v. Salt Lake City Corp : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j) (2009).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Did the trial court err in concluding that Plaintiffs' state law defamation and false arrest claims are not barred by Utah's one-year statute of limitations, Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-29(4)? This issue was preserved in the trial court in the Defendants' memoranda on summary judgment at R. 2971-73, 3123-24, 3187-88, and 3227-29.

Standard of review: The Utah Supreme Court reviews a district court's conclusions of law and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment for correctness, and views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Bingham v. Roosevelt City Corp.*, 2010 UT 37, ¶ 10, 235 P.3d 730.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arose from the issuance of a citation to Plaintiff Jeff Howe by Salt Lake City Police Sgt. James Bryant on July 21, 2003, and Mr. Howe's subsequent acquittal on directed verdict. Mr. Howe, his father Jerry, and their company, Peak Alarm (collectively referred to herein as "Plaintiffs") filed a notice of claim on June 25, 2004. Plaintiffs brought suit against Sgt. Bryant and Shanna Werner (Salt Lake City's Alarm Coordinator) on April 7, 2005 in their individual capacities, alleging (among several other causes of action) Utah law claims of false arrest/imprisonment against Sgt. Bryant,

and defamation against Ms. Werner¹. Bryant and Werner moved for summary judgment, which was denied by the trial court as to these two claims. *R. 3236-38*. The trial court's decision was certified as a final order for purposes of appeal (*R. 3264-66*), and Defendants appealed. *R. 3267-87*. This Court, in an Order dated February 29, 2012, determined that the certification of the trial court's ruling as final was in error, but elected to consider the appeal as a petition for permission to appeal an interlocutory order, and granted the petition. *R. 3387*.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On July 21, 2003, Defendant/Appellant Salt Lake City Police Sgt. James Bryant and a fellow officer met with Jeff Howe at Peak Alarm's place of business to issue him a citation for violating Utah Code Ann. § 76-9-105. *R. 1723, 1745, 1768, 3237*.

2. Jeff Howe admits that Sgt. Bryant gave him the option of being arrested or signing the citation, and that he opted to sign the citation in lieu of arrest. *R. 1770*.

3. Jeff Howe admits he was not handcuffed at any time, he was not physically restrained by Sgt. Bryant, nor did Sgt. Bryant lay hands on him in any way. *R. 1771, 1826*.

¹ Most of the original causes of action pled in this matter have been dismissed on summary judgment and appeal. However, because the only claims relevant to this appeal are the state law false arrest and defamation causes of action, the other claims, and the proceedings related to those claims, are not addressed herein for the sake of simplicity.

4. The officers then left the building, and Howe was subjected to no further restrictions on his liberty other than to appear in court at some time in the future. *R. 1820-22.*

5. Jeff Howe was tried in Justice Court on April 12, 2004, and won a directed verdict in his favor. *R. 1838-43.*

6. On June 25, 2004, Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Claim with the City Recorder's Office, alleging unlawful conduct by the City and one or more of its employees. *R. 1845-52.*

7. On April 7, 2005, plaintiffs filed their Complaint against the City and the individual defendants in their individual and official capacities. *R. 1-21.*

8. Plaintiffs alleged that Ms. Werner made broad and damaging statements regarding the alarm industry that were published as late as April 30, 2003. *R. 112-15.*

9. Plaintiffs alleged that Ms. Werner also targeted Peak Alarm specifically in a letter to a Peak Alarm customer dated March 21, 2002 wherein she encouraged the customer to "consider selecting another company who will do a better job for you." *R. 115.*

10. Plaintiffs allege that these statements unfairly maligned Peak Alarm, Jerry and Jeff Howe, threatened existing and future business prospects of Peak Alarm, and sent a "chill over the expression of legitimate viewpoints." *R. 115.*

11. Jeff Howe concedes that he knew about all of these allegedly defamatory statements in 2003. *R. 1775-1817, 1802, 1805, 1812-13, 1818-19.*

12. Both parties to this action moved for summary judgment. On August 5, 2008, the trial court heard oral arguments on the parties' summary judgment motions, and took the matter under advisement. *R. 2661.*

13. On October 6, 2008, the trial court issued a Ruling granting summary judgment in favor of the defendants, and denying Plaintiffs' motion for partial summary judgment. *R. 2661-96.*

14. Plaintiffs appealed the Ruling to this Court, which affirmed in part, and reversed in part. The Court remanded seven Utah law claims and one federal law claim back to the trial court. *R. 2753-88.*

15. Defendants again moved for summary judgment on February 4, 2011. *R. 2877-79, 2882-2928, 2953-96.*

16. The trial court ultimately denied summary judgment as to the state law false arrest/seizure and defamation claims on December 7, 2011. *R. 3235-47.*

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-29(4) provides that an action for defamation and false arrest must be brought within one year. Jeff Howe alleges he was falsely arrested on July 21, 2003. Therefore, he must have filed his Complaint by July 21, 2004. Because he did not file his Complaint until April 7, 2005, almost nine months too late, his false arrest claim must be dismissed.

Mr. Howe also alleges that he was defamed by comments made by Shanna Werner that were published as late as April 30, 2003. All of the allegedly defamatory comments were either known by Plaintiffs, or were reasonably discoverable, by July of 2003.

Therefore, at the latest, Plaintiffs' Complaint must have been filed by July of 2004 to be timely. Again, because the Complaint was not filed until April of 2005, Plaintiffs' defamation cause of action must also be dismissed as untimely.

Plaintiffs allege that because they complied with the procedural requirements of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-1 *et seq.*, ("the Immunity Act"), they were not required to also comply with the one-year statute of limitation for defamation and false arrest claims. Apparently, the trial court agreed, although it is not entirely clear from the trial court's Ruling whether it actually considered the Complaint's timeliness pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-29(4).

In practical terms, the trial court's Ruling effectively rendered Utah's one-year statute of limitation for these claims meaningless and without effect. The trial court should have interpreted both the Immunity Act and the statute of limitation in manner which gave both statutes full effect, absent an express intent to the contrary by the Utah Legislature. It is clear that the Legislature intended to limit a party's ability to bring suit for defamation and false arrest claims to one year. Nothing in the Immunity Act provides that its procedural requirements supplant or supersede any limitation period in other sections of the Utah Code. If that was what the Legislature intended, they certainly knew how to do so.

The Immunity Act provides that where immunity from suit is waived, consent to be sued is granted, and liability of an entity, or its employee, shall be determined as if the entity (or employee) is a private person. It also provides that none of its provisions may adversely affect any immunity from suit that an entity or employee may otherwise assert

under state or federal law. Here, Sgt. Bryant and Ms. Werner were immune from suit by virtue of Utah's one-year statute of limitation, which barred Plaintiffs' untimely Complaint.

The Immunity Act only extends to the grant or waiver of governmental immunity. It does not, in and of itself, provide a basis for liability or any cause of action. Its notice of claim requirements are nothing more than a jurisdictional prerequisite to suit, merely providing a deadline for giving notice of a claim against a governmental entity. It does not prohibit the Legislature from imposing a shorter statutory filing date for any specific cause of action, as it clearly did here.

At least two Utah Court of Appeals cases have required that a plaintiff comply with both the procedural requirements of the Immunity Act, as well as any other statute of limitation that may apply. The most directly on point is *Cline v. State*, 2005 UT App 498, 142 P.3d 127 (cert. denied April 21, 2006), which held that Mr. Cline's libel and slander claims were barred by the same limitation statute at issue here, even though he otherwise complied with the requirements of the Immunity Act.

In *Carter v. Milford Valley Memorial Hospital*, 2000 UT App 21, 996 P.2d 1076, the Court held that Mr. Carter's compliance with the Immunity Act did not excuse him from also complying with the limitation period provided in the Utah Malpractice Act.

Thus, Plaintiffs here were required to comply with both the procedural requirements of the Immunity Act (which they did) AND the one-year statute of limitation for defamation and false arrest claims (which they did not). Nothing prevented them from doing so.

Therefore, the trial court's Ruling denying summary judgment to Sgt. Bryant and Ms. Werner must be REVERSED, and Plaintiffs' defamation and false arrest claims must be dismissed.

ARGUMENT

I.

PLAINTIFFS' STATE LAW FALSE ARREST AND DEFAMATION CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY UTAH'S ONE-YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATION

Plaintiffs' state law false arrest and defamation claims are barred by Utah's one year statute of limitation, Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-29(4) (2001)², which provides: "[a]n action may be brought within one year . . . for libel, slander, assault, battery, false imprisonment, or seduction." There is no dispute that Jeff Howe alleges he was "arrested" and/or "seized" on July 21, 2003. See *Statement of Fact No. 1*. In Utah, a claim for false arrest/seizure arises on the date of the claimed "arrest" or "seizure." *Tolman v. K-Mart Enterprises of Utah, Inc.*, 560 P.2d 1127, 1128 (Utah 1977). Therefore, Plaintiffs must have filed their action for false arrest/seizure by July 21, 2004.

Because the Complaint in this matter was not filed until April 7, 2005, nearly nine months too late, Plaintiffs failed to comply with the one year statute of limitations, and their false arrest claim must be dismissed.

² In 2003, when Plaintiffs' cause of action arose, this code provision was numbered as § 78-12-29(4). In 2008, the Utah Legislature renumbered this statute as § 78B-2-302(4), and removed "assault" and "battery" from subsection four. Otherwise, the relevant language of the two statutes is identical.

Similarly, all of the statements by Ms. Werner that have been alleged to be defamatory were either known by Plaintiffs, or reasonably discoverable, by July of 2003. Therefore, at the latest, Plaintiffs' Complaint alleging defamation must have been filed by July of 2004 to be timely. Because the Complaint in this matter was not filed until April 7, 2005, Plaintiffs' defamation claim must also be dismissed.

II.

THE JURISDICTIONAL PREREQUISITES OF THE IMMUNITY ACT DO NOT SUPERSEDE LIMITATION PERIODS PROVIDED IN OTHER CODE SECTIONS, NOR DO THEY ALTER A PERSON'S OBLIGATION TO COMPLY WITH THOSE LIMITATION PERIODS.

On summary judgment below, Plaintiffs argued that because they timely filed a notice of claim, as required by the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11³ ("Immunity Act"), and filed their Complaint within one year of the denial of their notice of claim, they were not required to comply with Utah's one-year statute of limitation. *R. 3021-23, 3036-37*. The trial court apparently agreed, ruling that Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-11(1), when read in conjunction with § 63-30-15(2), "is an indication that such claims may be tolled for the duration of the approval/denial period." *R. 3236-37*. Therefore, "[b]ecause Plaintiffs' Complaint was filed within one year [of the filing of their notice of claim], regardless of a denial or approval, the noted claims are timely

³ In 2004, the Utah Legislature repealed the Utah Governmental Immunity Act, Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-1 et seq. (1997) and re-enacted it as the Governmental Immunity Act of Utah. Utah Code Ann. § 63-30d-101 et seq. The citations in this brief are to the former statute, which was in effect at the time Plaintiffs' causes of action arose in July of 2003. The Governmental Immunity Act of Utah is currently codified as Utah Code Ann. § 63G-7-101 et seq.

pursuant to the [Immunity] Act.” *R. 3238*. However, in its Ruling, the trial court did not specifically address Utah’s one-year statute of limitation, nor how that limitation period interfaces with the Immunity Act, so it is not entirely clear whether the trial even considered the Complaint’s timeliness pursuant to the one-year limitation period provided in Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-29(4).

Whether it intended to do so or not, the practical effect of the trial court’s Ruling is to render the one-year statute of limitation in Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-29(4) meaningless and without effect. It is axiomatic that statutes should not be read in a manner that renders another code section meaningless unless the Legislature clearly expresses otherwise. See, e.g., *Morton v. Mancari*, 417 U.S. 535, 550-51 (1974) (“The courts are not at liberty to pick and choose among congressional enactments, and when two statutes are capable of co-existence, it is the duty of the courts, absent a clearly expressed congressional intention to the contrary, to regard each as effective. When there are two acts upon the same subject, the rule is to give effect to both if possible”); *McCoy v. Severson*, 118 Utah 502, 508, 222 P.2d 1058, 1061 (1950) (It is a rule of statutory construction that where there are two or more statutes dealing with the same subject matter they will be construed so as to maintain the integrity of both).

The primary purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine the “true intent and purpose of the Legislature.” *State ex rel. Div. of Forestry, Fire & State Lands v. Tooele County*, 2002 UT 8, ¶ 10, 44 P.3d 680 (internal quotation marks omitted). There can be no question that the Utah Legislature intended to limit defamation and false imprisonment claims to one year. An important purpose of a statute of limitation is to

“prevent the injustice which may result from the prosecution of stale claims” due to the “difficulties caused by lost evidence, faded memories and disappearing witnesses.” *Lund v. Hall*, 938 P.2d 285, 291 (Utah 1997). The interpretation urged by Plaintiffs would completely ignore the Legislature’s clear intent and negate the very purpose of Utah’s one-year statute of limitation on these claims.

Further, the Immunity Act contains no provision stating that it takes precedence over, or supersedes, any other limitation contained in the Utah Code. If that was the Utah Legislature’s intent, they certainly knew how to do so. To the contrary, the Immunity Act specifically provides that where the government’s immunity is waived, consent to be sued is granted, and “liability of the entity shall be determined as if the entity were a private person.” There can be no dispute that private persons are subject to the one-year statute of limitation for libel and slander. Additionally, the Immunity Act provides that “[n]othing in this chapter may be construed as adversely affecting any immunity from suit that a governmental entity or employee may otherwise assert under state or federal law.” *Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-4(2)*.

Nevertheless, it appears that both Plaintiffs and the trial court misapprehend the Immunity Act, the Utah decisions applying it, and how it interfaces with other statutory limitation periods. The scope of the Immunity Act itself “extends only to the grant and waiver of governmental immunity; the Act does not itself serve as the basis for liability or any cause of action.” *Hall v. Utah State Dept. of Corrections*, 2001 UT 34, ¶ 16, 24 P.3d 958 (citing *Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-4(1)(c)*). Similarly, the notice of claim requirements of the Immunity Act are nothing more than a jurisdictional prerequisite to

suing a governmental entity or employee. *Wheeler v. McPherson*, 2002 UT 16, ¶¶ 9-10, 40 P.3d 632. The Immunity Act merely provides a deadline for which notice must be given that there is a claim against a governmental entity. It does not prohibit the legislature from imposing a shorter statutory filing date for a specific cause of action. The Immunity Act's requirements are not, in and of themselves, a separate and distinct limitation scheme.

Claims that fail to comply with a statute of limitation, even if they otherwise comply with the Immunity Act's jurisdictional prerequisites, are still barred. *Carter v. Milford Valley Memorial Hospital*, 2000 UT App 21, 996 P.2d 1076 (in cases where both the Immunity Act and the Utah Healthcare Malpractice Act apply, compliance with the procedural requirements of both is required); *Cline v. State*, 2005 UT App 498, 142 P.3d 127 (cert. denied April 21, 2006) (libel and slander claims barred by the one-year statute of limitations contained in Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-29(4), even though plaintiff otherwise complied with the Immunity Act). The mere fact that the government has granted statutory rights of action against itself, and imposed certain conditions on those rights of action, does not mean that those conditions supplant and supersede all other statutory provisions related to a claim against a governmental entity. The Immunity Act does not provide a "separate filing scheme and deadlines" to the exclusion of all other statutory provisions, as urged by Plaintiffs.

The *Cline* case is directly on point. There, Cline's cause of action arose no later than November 2002. His notice of claim was filed in April 2003 (five months later), and the Complaint was filed June 10, 2004 (one year and seven months after the cause of

action accrued, and one year and roughly 60 days after the notice of claim was filed)⁴. In spite of the fact that his notice of claim and Complaint were timely filed, and he otherwise complied with the filing requirements of the Immunity Act, the Court of Appeals nevertheless held that his claims were time-barred because Cline failed to comply with the applicable one-year statute of limitation for libel and slander. *Cline*, 2005 UT App 498, ¶ 41 (cert. denied April 21, 2006, 133 P.3d 437).

Similarly in *Carter*, the plaintiff brought a medical malpractice suit against a governmentally-owned hospital. While Mr. Carter complied with the “procedural requirements” of the Immunity Act, he did not comply with the requirements of the Malpractice Act. *Carter*, 2000 UT App at ¶ 15. The Court concluded that compliance with the Immunity Act did not excuse Mr. Carter from also complying with the time limitation in the Malpractice Act. *Id.* Both *Cline* and *Carter* are directly applicable to the issues in this appeal. See also *Thorpe v. Washington City*, 2010 UT App 297, 243 P.3d 500 (applying the Utah Whistleblower Act’s (“WBA”) 180-day limitation period to action against City where plaintiff otherwise complied with Immunity Act requirements,

⁴ While Plaintiffs correctly pointed out on summary judgment (*R. 3213*) that the decision does not specifically state whether Cline’s notice of claim was actually denied, or was deemed denied 90 days after it was filed, it makes no difference whatsoever in the analysis. If Cline had filed his complaint more than one year from the date his notice of claim was denied, the Court would have had an easy decision, dismissing for failure to comply with the Immunity Act’s requirements. Instead, the Court analyzed Cline’s malicious prosecution, fraud, libel and slander claims under the separate one-year limitation statute, something it would not have done if Cline’s complaint was time-barred under the Immunity Act alone.

recognizing that plaintiffs must file a notice of claim related to a WBA cause of action much sooner than the one year provided for in the Immunity Act).

Here, under Utah law, Plaintiffs must have complied with the filing requirements of the Immunity Act (which they did) AND complied with the one- year statute of limitations for defamation and false arrest claims (which they did not). Nothing prevented them from doing so. However, because they failed to file their complaint within one year of the accrual of their causes of action, those claims are time-barred pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-29(4). The trial court's Ruling on this issue must be reversed, and Plaintiffs' defamation and state law false arrest claims must be dismissed.

CONCLUSION

Defendants/Appellants respectfully request that this Court REVERSE the trial court's Ruling denying summary judgment as to Plaintiffs' state law defamation and false arrest claims.