2012

# Peak Alarm Company v. Salt Lake City Corp : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

*Id.*, 1999 UT 31, ¶ 22 (emphasis added).

Similarly, in *Patterson v. American Fork City*, 2003 UT 7, 67 P.3d 466, this Court analyzed the timeliness of the plaintiff's state law claims solely under the UGIA, and stated the rule in the same clear terms as it had in *Rushton*:

Section 63-30-13 of the UGIA bars a claim against a political subdivision unless a notice of claim is filed "within one year after the claim arises." Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-13. Under section 63-30-14, the municipality then has ninety days to notify the claimant of the approval or denial of the claim. If a claim is denied, the claimant may bring an action in district court against the municipality, but such a claim must be brought within one year after denial of the claim, or within one year after the ninety-day denial period has expired. Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-15.

*Patterson*, 2003 UT 7, ¶ 10.

The results of this Court's prior cases are rooted in and consistent with the relevant language of the UGIA. Although the cases do not address the general statute of

limitations for claims against the government, they are consistent with the language of that statute as well. They reflect a straightforward, comprehensible rule: so long as an action is filed in district court within one year of the denial of a notice of claim properly filed with the governmental agency, it is timely.

Defendants do not have any contrary authority from this Court, or indeed any authority from any court that thoroughly analyzes the relevant statutory language, and they do not themselves discuss or analyze that language. Instead, they rely principally on *Cline v. State*, 2005 UT App 498, 142 P.3d 127. In that case, the Court of Appeals did not analyze the relevant statutory language, and did not even discuss whether the plaintiff's notice of claim complied with the separate filing deadlines set forth in the UGIA.<sup>12</sup> To the extent it suggests that general statutes of limitations apply to claims against state actors even where the plaintiff has fully complied with the UGIA, that result appears inconsistent with the statutory language and this Court's simple statement of the relevant rule in *Rushton* and *Patterson*.

Defendants also cite a medical malpractice case, *Carter v. Milford Valley Hospital*, 2000 UT App 21, 996 P.2d 1076. That case stands for the proposition that where the Legislature has specified a limitations period for a statutory cause of action,

---

<sup>12</sup> The facts indicate the relevant claim arose no later than November 2002; the Notice of Claim was served in April 2003; and the Complaint was filed in June 2004. This could, but does not necessarily, indicate that the Complaint was filed within one year of the denial of the claim, which is the relevant deadline in the UGIA, since the decision does not state whether the claim was denied before June 2003 or was denied by operation of law in July 2003 through inaction.

that specific limitations period applies. To the same effect is the other case cited by Defendants, *Thorpe v. Washington City*, 2010 UT App 297, 243 P.3d 500 (applying the Utah Whistleblower Act's 180-day limitations period to a claim arising under that Act). That proposition is consistent with the general statute of limitations provision, but these cases do not control here, because no competing limitations period for a specific statutory cause of action exists here.

Defendants argue that had the legislature intended the time periods set forth in the UGIA to supplant the statutes of limitations that would apply if the underlying claims were made against private actors, it would have said so. Plaintiffs respectfully submit that the legislature **did** say so, in the plain language of not only the UGIA but also the statute of limitations that applies to claims against the government, which Defendants ignore. Moreover, it is equally true that, had the legislature intended the UGIA to impose the **shorter** of its own time frame or the statute of limitations otherwise applicable to the underlying claim, it could have said so in clear and unambiguous terms.

Finally, this Court has long held that, where there is "substantial doubt" about what limitations period governs, that doubt should be resolved in favor of applying the longer limitations period. *See Hardinge Co. v. Eimco Corp.*, 266 P.2d 494, 496 (Utah 1954) ("The general rule . . . is . . . [i]f a substantial doubt exists as to which is the applicable statute of limitations, the longer rather than the shorter period of limitations is

to be preferred.”). In this case, to the extent the interplay between the UGIA and Utah statutes of limitations is less than clear, this general rule should apply.<sup>13</sup>

On Defendants’ reading, the filing deadlines set forth in the UGIA would be rendered all but meaningless for any state law claims having general statutes of limitations that would run before the UGIA’s filing deadlines expire, and injured persons with claims against the government not only would have to run the gauntlet of strict compliance with the UGIA but also would have to comply with the shortest potentially applicable period. That is contrary to the policy inherent in the preceding authority. The uncertainty and unfairness inherent in such an approach led the United States Supreme Court to interpret 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 to impose a separate, single limitations scheme on federal constitutional claims, because otherwise “multiple periods of limitations would often apply to the same case” – a result the Supreme Court said could hardly have been intended. *See Wilson v. Garcia*, 471 U.S. 261, 275 (1985).

By contrast, on Plaintiffs’ reading the general statutes of limitations are not rendered meaningless or superfluous; they continue in full force and effect for claims

---

<sup>13</sup> Plaintiffs note that the 2004 amendments to the UGIA included the following provision: “This single, comprehensive chapter governs all claims against governmental entities or against their employees or agents arising out of the performance of the employee's duties, within the scope of employment, or under color of authority.” Utah Code Ann. § 63-30d-101(2)(b) (2004), currently codified at Utah Code Ann. § 63G-7-101(2)(b) (Renumbered and Amended by Chapter 382, 2008 General Session). This language merely underscores what Plaintiffs believe has been evident all along, which is that the UGIA governs all aspects of claims against government actors, including at least supplanting **shorter** statutes of limitations in district court actions based on such claims.

brought against private actors. Plaintiffs' reading does not detract at all from the salutary purpose of the UGIA, which is "to give timely notice . . . so that the state or one of its political subdivisions may conduct an investigation." *Moreno v. Board of Educ. Of Jordan Sch. Dist.*, 926 P.2d 886, 892 (Utah 1994) (Howe, J.). Imposing shorter statutes of limitations could actually frustrate that purpose, requiring plaintiffs to file suit precipitously with adequate opportunity to investigate, put forward and hopefully resolve short of litigation claims involving government actors.

Questions may remain to whether the UGIA's one-year statute of limitations supplants **longer** statutes of limitations, or whether the *Hardinge* preference for applying the longer of two potentially applicable limitations periods prevails. Other state courts that have addressed that question have reached different conclusions.<sup>14</sup> To resolve the issue presented by this appeal, it is sufficient to conclude that the UGIA provides the **minimum** time period within which actions against government actors must be brought to be timely.

---

<sup>14</sup> Compare *Griffin v. Willoughby*, 867 N.E.2d 1007, 1013-14 (Ill. App. Ct. 2006) (analyzing the Illinois Tort Immunity Act and concluding that the Illinois Legislature intended it to apply "**broadly to any possible claim** against a local governmental entity and its employees" and that the "comprehensive protection afforded by [the Illinois Tort Immunity Act] necessarily controls over other statutes of limitation or repose," and therefore that the one-year limitations period in the immunity statute prevailed over the two-year limitations period applicable to personal-injury actions against private actors) (emphasis in original), with *Dawson v. Reider*, 872 P.2d 212, 214-16 (Colo. 1994) (analyzing the interplay between a statute providing a one-year limitations period for actions against sheriffs and the a three-year limitations period for actions under Colorado's No-Fault Act in action against a deputy sheriff arising out of an automobile accident and concluding that the longer period applies).

C. This Court's Prior Ruling In This Case Is The Law Of The Case.

One final point. This Court has already declined not once, but twice, to accept Defendants' arguments that it should affirm the trial court's prior dismissal of Plaintiffs' state law claims on statute of limitation grounds the trial court did not reach. Defendants' appeal is the third bite at the same apple. The "law of the case" doctrine precludes it.

"The 'law of the case' is a legal doctrine under which a decision made on an issue during one stage of a case is binding in successive stages of the same litigation."

*Thurston v. Box Elder County*, 892 P.2d 1034, 1037 (Utah 1995). The doctrine applies to issues expressly resolved by an appellate court in an earlier stage of the case, and also to issues resolved by "necessary implication." *Utah Dept. of Transp. v. Ivers*, 2009 UT 56, ¶ 20, 218 P.3d 583 (Utah 2009) (holding that the law of the case doctrine precluded the re-argument of an issue the resolution of which was "implicit" in a prior appellate decision in the case) (emphasis added). *Accord, Dobbs v. Anthem Blue Cross Blue Shield*, 600 F.3d 1275, 1280 (10th Cir. 2010) ("the law of the case doctrine applies to issues previously decided, either explicitly or by necessary implication") (quotation marks, citation omitted); *Crowe v. Smith*, 261 F.3d 558, 563 (5th Cir. 2001) (law of the case doctrine applies to issues resolved "by necessary implication" in a prior appellate decision in the case).

A review of the procedural history of Defendants' renewed statute of limitations argument shows that it has already been addressed, if not explicitly, then by necessary

implication. In their first summary judgment motion, Defendants argued that Plaintiffs' state law claims were barred by their alleged failure to provide the notice required by the UGIA. Defendants also argued that, assuming Plaintiffs provided adequate UGIA notice, all of Plaintiffs' state law claims failed on the merits and were otherwise barred on limitations grounds ("Alternative Arguments"). Granting Defendants' first motion for summary judgment, the trial court held that Plaintiffs' had not provided timely and adequate UGIA notice. The court gave little consideration to Defendants' Alternative Arguments, suggesting that it viewed the UGIA's own one-year statute of limitations as the only relevant period.

On Plaintiffs' appeal, Defendants contended in their opening brief that Plaintiffs' state-law claims were barred on UGIA grounds, and also on the grounds set forth in their Alternative Arguments. Focusing, as the trial court had, on what it called the UGIA's "one-year statute of limitations," this Court held that Plaintiffs' state law claims were timely. *See Peak Alarm*, 2010 UT 22, ¶¶ 34-35, 88. This Court declined to affirm this Court's dismissal based on the Alternative Arguments. Defendants then petitioned this Court for rehearing. In doing so, they once again specifically argued that this Court should not remand the state law claims case to the trial court, on the ground that their Alternative Arguments required dismissal of those claims notwithstanding this Court's ruling on the UGIA issue. This Court denied Defendants' petition for rehearing.

On remand, for at least the fourth time, Defendants again contended that they are entitled to dismissal of Plaintiffs' state law claims based on their Alternative Arguments. Those arguments were then, and are now, precluded by the law of the case doctrine, since this Court at least implicitly rejected Defendants' Alternative Arguments as to why Plaintiffs' remanded state law claims should be dismissed. Otherwise this Court's remand, and its denial of rehearing, makes no sense. For if Defendants' Alternative Arguments were correct, this Court was obliged to affirm the dismissal of all of Plaintiffs' state law claims, and not to remand the case.

The application of the "law of the case" doctrine in circumstances such as these is amply supported in the case law. In *McIlravy v. Kerr-McGee Coal Corp.*, 204 F.3d 1031 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2000), the defendant sought summary judgment on the plaintiff's breach of employment contract claim, which claim was based on defendant's employee manual. The defendant argued that as a matter of law its employee manual did not give rise to an enforceable contract, and that in any event it had not breached any such contract. Reversing, the appellate court held that genuine issues of material fact existed with respect to the question of whether the defendant breached an employment contract with the plaintiff. The appellate court did not expressly rule on the defendant's alternative argument that its employee manual did not give rise to an enforceable contract.

On remand, a trial resulted in judgment for the plaintiff. On appeal from that judgment, the defendant again argued that its employee manual did not create an

enforceable contract. The appellate court held that the law of the case doctrine precluded its consideration of this argument, which had impliedly been rejected by its prior opinion. Otherwise, observed the court, on the prior appeal it would have “affirm[ed] rather than reverse[d] the grant of summary judgment” to defendant. *Id.* at 1036. Precisely the same is true here; had this Court agreed with Defendants’ Alternative Arguments, it would have affirmed the trial court’s grant of summary judgment to Defendants, instead of reversing in part and remanding.

In *Globe Savings Bank v. United States*, 74 Fed. Cl. 736 (Ct. Cl. 2006), in a second appeal the defendant raised an argument it had raised on a petition for rehearing of the appellate court’s prior ruling against it, which petition had been denied without any discussion of the issue. The court held that the law of the case doctrine precluded the defendant from again raising this argument, which the court had impliedly resolved against the defendant in denying its petition for rehearing. The court stated: “a trial court acting on a remand order, may not reexamine any issues that were addressed either explicitly or implicitly by the appellate court. No litigant deserves an opportunity to go over the same ground twice.” *Id.* at 740 (quotation marks, citation omitted). Here, as in *Globe*, this Court’s denial of Defendants’ petition for rehearing implicitly rejected the arguments Defendants presented in that petition. Defendants should not be allowed to present those arguments again for the fourth or fifth time.

In *Dobbs v. Anthem Blue Cross Blue Shield*, 600 F.3d 1275 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2010), the trial court dismissed the plaintiff's state law claims against the defendant health insurer on the ground that they were preempted by the federal ERISA law. Reversing and remanding, the appellate court ruled that the plaintiff's state law claims would not be preempted if the insurance plan at issue qualified as a "governmental plan" under a recently amended statutory definition. On remand, the trial court held that such amended definition did not apply retroactively, and again dismissed the plaintiff's state law claims. Reversing for the second time, the appellate court held that the law of the case doctrine precluded the defendant's argument that the amended statutory definition did not have retroactive effect. Although the appellate court's first ruling did not expressly hold that the amended definition applied retroactively, it did so impliedly; otherwise, there would have been "no logical reason" for the court to have remanded the case. *Id.* at 1280-1281. Similarly, there would have been "no logical reason" for this Court to have remanded this case to this court, had Defendants' Alternative Arguments possessed merit. *See also In re Felt*, 255 F.3d 220, 225 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001) ("The law of the case doctrine applies not only to issues decided explicitly, but also to everything decided by necessary implication ... and, though not expressly addressed in an initial appeal, those matters that were fully briefed to the appellate court and were necessary predicates to its ability to address the issue or issues specifically discussed are deemed to have been decided tacitly or implicitly, and their disposition is law of the case") (quotation marks, citation omitted).

The law of the case doctrine “rests on good sense and the desire to protect both court and parties against the burdens of repeated re-argument by indefatigable diehards.” *Thurston v. Box Elder County*, 892 P.2d 1034, 1037 (Utah 1995). In advancing arguments for at least the fourth time, Defendants amply demonstrate that they are such “indefatigable diehards,” but Plaintiffs at long last should be allowed to present their claims to a jury at trial.

### CONCLUSION

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